PUBLISHED VERSION

Shintaro Kondo, Grant Townsend, Masanobu Matsuno **Morphological variation of the maxillary lateral incisor** Japanese Dental Science Review, 2014; 50(4):100-107

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ 2014 Japanese Association for Dental Science. Published by Elsevier Ltd. Open access under CC BY-NC-ND license.

Originally Published at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jdsr.2014.06.002

PERMISSIONS									
You are free to:									
Share — copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format									
The licensor cannot revoke these freedoms as long as you follow the license terms.									
Under the following terms:									
Attribution — You must give <u>appropriate credit</u> , provide a link to the license, and <u>indicate if changes were made</u> . You may do so in any reasonable manner, but not in any way that suggests the licensor endorses you or your use.									
NonCommercial — You may not use the material for <u>commercial purposes</u> .									
NoDerivatives — If you <u>remix, transform, or build upon</u> the material, you may not distribute the modified material.									
No additional restrictions — You may not apply legal terms or <u>technological measures</u> that legally restrict others from doing anything the license permits.									
20 October 2015									

http://hdl.handle.net/2440/95379



ScienceDirect

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jdsr

Review Article

Morphological variation of the maxillary lateral incisor



Shintaro Kondo^{a,*}, Grant Townsend^b, Masanobu Matsuno^a

 ^a Department of Anatomy I, Nihon University School of Dentistry at Matsudo, 2-870-1 Sakaecho-Nishi, Matsudo, Chiba 271-8587, Japan
^b School of Dentistry, The University of Adelaide, 5005 South Australia, Australia

Received 10 April 2014; received in revised form 7 June 2014; accepted 19 June 2014

KEYWORDS

Twin model; Genetic factors; Environmental factors; Epigenetics; Compensatory interactions; Inhibitory cascade **Summary** The maxillary lateral incisor is a variable tooth morphologically. This tooth frequently shows reduction in size, and also various alterations in shape, for example, peg-shaped, cone-shaped, barrel-shaped and canine-shaped. The lateral incisor variant can be analyzed by family studies and using twin models, and these approaches have shown that genetic, epigenetic and environmental factors can all contribute to variation in the trait. Discordance of the phenotype in monozygotic twin pairs could be explained by the following two hypotheses: (1) the embryological environment of monochorionic twin pairs who share the same placenta and chorionic membrane during the prenatal period may differ, (2) phenotypic variation may be caused by epigenetic influences. Possible developmental factors are discussed in this review. Recent studies suggest that *Msx1*, *Pax9* and *Axin2* genes predispose to lateral incisor agenesis. Tooth reduction and agenesis seem to represent inter-related complex multifactorial traits, influenced by a combination of gene expression and function, environmental interaction and developing timing. Thus, accumulation of large data banks of morphological data is needed to support and clarify ongoing molecular genetic studies of dental development.

© 2014 Japanese Association for Dental Science. Published by Elsevier Ltd. Open access under CC BY-NC-ND license.

Contents

1.	Introduction	101
2.	Frequencies of occurrence of crown reduction in the maxillary lateral incisor	101
3.	Genetic analysis of maxillary lateral incisor variants	101
4	Discordance of phenotypic expression in M7 co-twins	103

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +81 47 360 9317. E-mail address: kondou.shintarou@nihon-u.ac.jp (S. Kondo).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jdsr.2014.06.002

1882-7616 © 2014 Japanese Association for Dental Science. Published by Elsevier Ltd. Open access under CC BY-NC-ND license.

	4.1. Is the embryonic environment identical for both members of an MZ twin pair?	103
	4.2. Epigenetic influences may explain discordance between MZ co-twins	103
5.	Developmental factors for the maxillary lateral incisor variant and agenesis	103
	5.1. Compensatory interactions between teeth	104
	5.2. Inhibitory cascade model	104
6.	Molecular genetics of tooth agenesis	106
	Funding	106
	Conflict of interest	106
	References	106

1. Introduction

The maxillary lateral incisor is a variable tooth morphologically. This tooth frequently shows reduction in size [1,2], but it can occasionally be as large as the central incisor [3,4]. It also frequently shows different crown shapes, for example, peg-shaped, cone-shaped, barrel-shaped and canine-shaped [1,2]. Interruption grooves and deep lingual pits are also found more frequently on the lateral incisor than the central [1,2]. Reduced size or shape of the maxillary lateral incisor reflects the interaction of genetic, epigenetic and environmental factors [5–9]. In this paper we describe some genetic studies of reduced crown form in maxillary lateral incisors, and discuss some developmental aspects.

2. Frequencies of occurrence of crown reduction in the maxillary lateral incisor

Reduced crown form in maxillary lateral incisors has been reported to occur in from 0 to 10 percent of individuals in various populations but the anthropological interrelationships of the different lateral incisor variants remain obscure [10]. It has been thought that lateral incisor variants are intermediate in form between normal and congenitally missing teeth [11]. The third molar is most frequently absent in the permanent teeth, followed by the mandibular second premolar [12]. In a Japanese population, agenesis of the maxillary lateral incisor was ranked third, but its freguency of absence (1.32–1.33%) was about half that of the mandibular second premolar (2.84–3.26%) [13]. This result is consistent with meta-analyses of the prevalence of dental agenesis for many human populations from all over the world [14,15]. Thus, the maxillary lateral incisor shows a relatively common tendency to reduction in crown size, but its frequency of congenital absence is low. In contrast, the mandibular incisors are found to be congenitally absent relatively frequently, but reduced form of these teeth is rarely seen [2]. These facts suggest that crown reduction and congenital absence of a tooth do not necessarily appear at the same pace.

3. Genetic analysis of maxillary lateral incisor variants

The influence of genetic factors on missing maxillary lateral incisors has been analyzed by family studies that have shown a genetic influence on this trait, but have not been able to discover any evidence of a single gene being involved [16,17]. The expression of this trait is best explained by a polygenic, multifactorial model, and non-syndromic simple hypodontia and tooth size can be considered as representative dental quantitative traits [8,18]. It is considered that other maxillary lateral incisor variants are also likely to be best explained by a polygenic model.

Kondo et al. [7] have reported the findings of a genetic analysis that focused on maxillary lateral incisor variants in a sample of Japanese twins (Figs. 1 and 2). The classical twin model, where similarities in monozygotic twin pairs are compared with similarities in dizygotic twin pairs, is very useful to clarify the contribution of genetic and environmental influences to variation in the size and shape of teeth. Monozygotic (MZ) twin pairs are assumed to share all the same genes whereas dizygotic (DZ) twin pairs only share 50% of their genes on average, similar to other sibling pairs. Various twin research study designs, including comparisons of the similarities within MZ and DZ twin pairs, have enabled researchers to further quantify the relative contributions of genetic, epigenetic and environmental factors to variation in maxillary lateral incisors [6].

Among 1005 twin pairs, a reduced form of the maxillary lateral incisor was seen in 121 twin pairs [7]. In this study, a reduction was defined as being present if it was seen in at least one side of either member of a twin pair. The reduction was divided into size and shape elements, so that these features could be assessed separately. Size was classified into three types by calculating the ratio of the crown sizes of the lateral incisor compared with the central incisor as follows: normal (>80%), small (70.0–79.9%) and diminutive (<70%). Shape was classified as normal, canine-shaped, peg-shaped and cone-shaped. Anything other than normal shape was considered to represent an example of the reduced trait. Concordance rates of the reduced form between right and left sides, and between co-twins of a pair were calculated.

The concordance rates between right and left sides ranged from 52.5% to 71.9%, and were not significantly different between MZ and DZ twin pairs (Table 1). The concordance rate between twin pairs was significantly larger within MZ twin pairs than within DZ twin pairs (Table 2), suggesting a genetic basis to variation but environmental and/or epigenetic factors were considered to also be important because the percentage concordance within MZ twin pairs was only 50–60%. Since the concordance rate within MZ twin pairs was larger for the size element than for the shape component, it is possible that hereditary factors influence tooth size more strongly than shape, but more sophisticated



Figure 1 Two cases of maxillary lateral incisor variation in male MZ twin pairs. (1) All four lateral incisors from right and left sides of two members of a twin pair were reduced in size and were peg-shaped (arrows). Apparently, the dental morphology was more affected by genetic factors than by environmental factors. (2) Only one of four teeth was reduced in size and was peg-shaped (arrow). In this case, apparently the dental morphology was more affected by environmental factors and/or epigenetic factors than by genetic factors than by more affected by environmental factors.



Figure 2 An example of maxillary lateral incisor reduction in a pair of male MZ twins and their father (labial view) In the father (F), the lateral incisors on both right and left sides were reduced in size and conical-shaped (arrow). In twin A, only the left side (arrow) was reduced. In twin B, both sides were normal in size and shape. The lateral incisor variants in this case are apparently influenced by heredity factors but also by environmental and/or epigenetic factors. Table 1Concordance rates of lateral incisor reductionbetween right and left sides.

		MZ	MZ		
		Size	Shape	Size	Shape
Sample num	ber				
Concordant	(++)	41	31	13	8
	()	31	29	10	17
Discordant	(+-)	16	28	9	7
Total	. ,	88	88	32	32
Concordance rates ^a		71.9%	52.5%	59. 1%	53.3%

Reproduced from Kondo et al. [7].

(+) Indicates reduced form, and (-) indicates normal.

^a Concordance rate indicates $(++)/{(++)+(+-)} \times 100$.

Table 2Concordance rates of lateral incisor reductionbetween members of a twin pair.

		Size		Shape		
		MZ	DZ	MZ	DZ	
Side number	sa					
Concordant	(++)	73	18	59	9	
	()	56	12	59	26	
Discordant	(+-)	37	33	48	28	
Total	. ,	166	63	166	63	
Concordance rate ^b		66.4%**	35.3%	55.1%**	24.3%	

Reproduced from Kondo et al. [7].

(+) Indicates reduced form, and (-) indicates normal.

^a The side number shows in the table as a sample number, not an individual number.

^b Concordance rate indicates $(++)/{(++)+(+-)} \times 100$.

** *P* < 0.01 (Chi-square test between MZ and DZ).

Table 3Reduced tooth number on right and left sides inboth members of twin pairs.

	Size	Size		pe
	MZ	DZ	MZ	DZ
Pair number				
0 ^a	20	2	16	9
1–3	28	22	43	19
4	29	7	18	3
Total	77	31	77	31
Percentage of 4 teeth (exclude	e 0 tooth)50.9	%24. 1	29.5	5%13.6

Reproduced from Kondo et al. [7].

^a This table shows the number of reduced lateral incisors, when there was evidence on at least one side and in at least one cotwin, for either size reduction or shape reduction, or the reverse relationship.

* P < 0.05 (Chi-square test between size and shape).

genetic modelling approaches would be needed to explore these relationships further. Since considerable phenotypic variation is found in the reduced lateral incisor, tooth shapes within MZ co-twins can be very similar or quite different, as Saheki [19] noted. Table 3 shows the frequency of reduced maxillary lateral incisors when considering all four teeth in both members of a twin pair. All four teeth showed the reduced type more frequently in MZ twin pairs than in DZ twin pairs (P < 0.05).

4. Discordance of phenotypic expression in MZ co-twins

Discordance of reduced tooth form in the maxillary lateral incisor between co-twins of MZ pairs has been discussed from genetic, epigenetic and environmental perspectives. In this paper we consider two hypotheses: (1) environmental factors influencing tooth formation, and (2) phenotypic variation caused by epigenetic influences.

4.1. Is the embryonic environment identical for both members of an MZ twin pair?

Townsend et al. [20] have discussed discordance between MZ co-twins due to differences in their embryonic environment. Monochorionic twins are MZ twins who share the same placenta and chorionic membrane during prenatal development. Although the twins have a common placenta, their blood supply is usually well-balanced [21]. However, in 5–15% of monochorionic pregnancies, twin transfusion syndrome associated with anterio-venous anastomoses, can lead to one member of a twin pair receiving better nourishment than the other. Differences in blood flow to developing tooth germs at critical stages of their formation, resulting in nutritional discrepancies, could presumably also influence the resultant dental phenotypes. This could lead to one member having well-developed lateral incisors, but the other having less-developed lateral incisors. For example, uptake of glucose into dental epithelial and mesenchymal cells, mediated by glucose transporters, has been shown to play an important role in early dental development and subsequent determination of tooth size in mice [22].

4.2. Epigenetic influences may explain discordance between MZ co-twins

Townsend et al. [23] noted that there was evidence of one missing maxillary lateral incisor or mandibular second premolar in 24 of the 278 MZ twin pairs who they examined, with 21 of these pairs showing discordant expression (87.5%). By focusing on the differences between MZ co-twins rather than their similarities, they postulated that epigenetic events during odontogenesis might account for the distinct differences between members of MZ twin pairs. Epigenetics refers to heritable changes in gene activity that are not caused by changes in the DNA sequence [24,25]. Variation due to genetic influences is classically based on changes to the DNA sequence (the genotype), but alterations in gene expression or alterations in the nature of cellular interactions at a local tissue level, both of which can be referred to as epigenetic factors, have other causes.

The science of epigenetics includes the many regulatory systems of the body involving DNA methylation and histone modification. Although twins are epigenetically indistinguishable during the early years of life, older MZ twins can exhibit quite remarkable differences in their overall content and genomic distribution of 5-methylcytosine DNA and histone acetylation, affecting their gene-expression portrait [26,27]. This fact indicates that tooth formation of the later-developed maxillary lateral incisor may be more likely to be affected by epigenetic influences than the early developing teeth.

5. Developmental factors for the maxillary lateral incisor variant and agenesis

Butler [28] was a pioneer in describing the concept of morphogenetic fields to account for the gradients in size and shape of teeth evident in the dentitions of different species (reviewed by Townsend et al. [29]). Dahlberg [30,31] adapted Butler's concepts to the human dentition and proposed that there was a field of influence operating on each of the tooth classes. The key tooth in each tooth class is considered to be the most stable tooth compared with the other more variable teeth. Butler's field concept has been re-interpreted in the light of recent molecular findings [32-34]. An odontogenetic homeobox code model of tooth patterning has been developed from studies in mice proposing that certain genes play specific roles in morphogenesis for each incisor and molar pathway. However, the mouse dentition is highly specialized with a long toothless diastema region instead of canine and premolar teeth, so some care is needed when translating findings to humans. Yamanaka et al. [35] used an insectivora (house shrew, Suncus murinus) as a model for mammalian heterodonty because it displays all tooth classes, and they showed that Sonic hedgehog expression localized to the presumptive tooth-forming regions for each tooth class.

Sofaer et al. [36] discussed tooth reduction over the course of human evolution. Reduction in size of the jaws during hominid evolution has been accompanied by a general

reduction in tooth size, and the reduction process appears to be more rapid in the most posterior teeth of each jaw. In each tooth class, the most posterior member starts to develop after the most anterior member, with exception of the mandibular incisors. Therefore, the most posterior tooth of each class reflects the effects of variation in the amount of available space.

Brook and colleagues [8,37] have suggested that the different prevalence of anomalies in different regions of the dentition could be associated with developmental timing, later-developing teeth displaying more variability than early-developing teeth in the same class. The maxillary lateral incisor is the most posterior and latest developed tooth in the incisor region, and its greater variability is likely to be due to a greater environmental influence on variation [38].

The maxillary lateral incisor forms in the location of the boundary between the premaxillary (primary palate) and maxillary processes [39], and this local factor may relate to the greater variability of the lateral incisor in both size and shape [20]. Interestingly, however, Mizoguchi [40] noted that the deciduous lateral incisor was as stable as the central incisor in size. He speculated that the deciduous incisors had some important function which was not shared by the permanent incisors but was required during the infant period when only the deciduous incisors were present. Although the number of congenitally missing teeth tends to be substantially greater in the permanent dentition than in the primary dentition, the most frequently missing teeth in the primary dentition are the incisors, while the premolars of the permanent dentition are most commonly absent, if one excludes the third molar teeth [41].

5.1. Compensatory interactions between teeth

The early-developed tooth tends to behave as an environmental factor for the adjacent later-developing tooth [42]. Grüneberg [43] stated that if the first molar of the mouse, which was the largest and the earliest developed in the molar row, was reduced, then the second and third molars tended to grow larger than in a normal mouse. Sofaer et al. [44] showed that when a lateral incisor was missing on one side, the central incisor adjacent to the missing tooth tended to be larger than the central incisor on the other side. These researchers also proposed that agenesis of a tooth might lead to an increased growth potential of neighbouring teeth, reflecting a compensatory effect in growth of adjacent developing tooth germs.

Hanihara [3] analyzed the relationship in the mesiodistal crown diameters between the maxillary lateral incisor and the other permanent teeth, and showed the size of lateral incisor was highly correlated with the size of the other teeth, i.e. when the lateral incisor is reduced, remaining teeth also tend to be reduced. Garn et al. [45,46] showed that agenesis of the third molar tooth was not an isolated anomaly, but rather a polymorphism related to the frequency of other missing teeth.

Mizoguchi [47] tested the compensatory interaction hypothesis by using path analysis in a Japanese population and he concluded that there was no, or little, compensatory growth of the later-developing teeth in the tooth row from central incisor to second molar in each jaw, but only the third molar grew to compensate for a whole dentition of certain length. Yamada et al. [48] demonstrated that tooth size of the remaining teeth was greater in a sample with third molar agenesis than in a group where all four third molars were present, with the exception of the maxillary lateral incisor. Their results could be explained to some extent by compensatory interactions within molar tooth row, but it is interesting that the maxillary lateral incisor was reduced in individuals with third molar agenesis. Thus, the maxillary lateral incisor and the third molar are reduced synchronously. There is a tendency for the size of remaining teeth to be more reduced as the number of missing teeth increases, but tooth size in individuals with one or two teeth missing is generally larger than in individuals with all 32 permanent teeth [49]. These findings indicate that the relationship between agenesis and the sizes of remaining teeth is likely to be complex.

Kondo and Hanamura [4] analyzed the mesiodistal crown diameters of the maxillary incisors and first molars in 301 Japanese individuals, and examined the existence of compensatory tooth size interaction between the earlydeveloped central incisor and the later-developed lateral incisor. The central incisor and first molar in the group that had reduced lateral incisors were not smaller than those in the other groups who had normal or large lateral incisors. Thus, the reduced lateral incisor did not always lead to the reduction of the other teeth. The central incisors was larger in the group who had reduced lateral incisors. This result indicates that the size of the lateral incisor was likely to reflect a compensatory response related to a large central incisor.

Fluctuating asymmetry in size of the lateral incisor was greater in the reduced lateral incisor group than in the normal lateral incisor group. Compensatory growth of the lateral incisors was noted in those groups where the lateral incisors showed strong asymmetry in their size and also in the group who displayed reduced lateral incisors. It was suggested by the authors that the compensatory growth was related to right and left side asymmetry in the lateral incisor. Correlations among teeth in the same tooth class, and correlations between right and left sides of the same tooth, were relatively high but the correlations among other tooth classes were low. It was thought that the reduction and compensatory growth of the lateral incisor were limited within the same tooth class, but rarely influenced the whole tooth row. In conclusion, it is proposed that reduced maxillary lateral incisors grow to compensate for the size of the adjacent central incisor in some cases, but their reduction also reflects reduction of the whole dentition in other cases (Fig. 3, Table 4).

5.2. Inhibitory cascade model

Kavanagh et al. [50] constructed an inhibitory cascade model by uncovering the activator-inhibitor logic of sequential tooth development. Their hypothesis was based on experiments of tooth development in the laboratory mouse and supports the important role of epigenetic influences during odontogenesis. Mouse molars develop sequentially and the dental lamina, extending posteriorly from the developing first molar, gives rise to the second molar. When the



Figure 3 Two cases of twin pairs displaying compensatory growth in maxillary incisors. In both cases, the lateral incisors of twin B are reduced in size. Mesiodistal crown diameters are shown in Table 4. (a) Male MZ twin pairs: Twin B has larger central incisors than twin A, and the lateral incisors are reduced in size, but the first molars are almost the same size. In twin B, there is evidence of compensatory interaction between the central and lateral incisors. (b) Female DZ twin pairs. Twin B has smaller central and lateral incisors, and first molars than twin A. The whole dentition is reduced in twin B. Reproduced from Kondo and Hanamura [4].

second molar was cultured apart from dental lamina of the first molar, the second molar developed faster and grew larger than in the intact situation. These authors proposed that the mesial molars inhibit development of the distal molars. This model explains the relative size of mandibular molars by a balance of inhibitor and activator substances, and predicts evolutionary patterns in the dentition. The model has been tested from both paleontological [51,52] and comparative anatomical [53] perspectives.

In a study of delayed erupted maxillary first molars, Rasmussen used the term ''9-year-molar'' [54]. The eruption times of the teeth reported were between that of the first

	Right side			Left side		
	M ¹	l ²	¹	l ¹	l ²	M ¹
a						
A	10.55	6.90	9.25	9.10	7.25	10.50
В	10.65	5.80	10.10	9.75	6.10	10.55
Difference between A and B $(A - B)$	-0.10	1.10	-0.85	-0.65	1.15	-0.05
b						
Α	10.95	7.45	8.90	9.05	7.55	11.10
В	10.35	5.25	8.25	8.30	5.80	10.25
Difference between A and B $(A - B)$	0.60	2.20	0.65	0.75	1.75	0.85

Table 4 Tooth dimensions of two cases of twin pairs in Fig. 3 (mm).

and second molars, and the morphological configurations were found to be closest to that of the second molar. This led to the question "Are the aberrant teeth really first molars?" Yamada [55] reported similar cases, and thought that the aberrant teeth were early-developed second molars. The inhibitory cascade model is useful in interpreting these cases, as a congenitally missing first molar would lead to altered development of the second molar.

The inhibitory cascade model could also be applied to the incisor region, e.g. when the early-developed central incisor is large, development of the later-developed lateral incisor may be inhibited, so that the lateral incisor will tend to be reduced in size.

6. Molecular genetics of tooth agenesis

Non-syndromic tooth agenesis includes different phenotypes: hypodontia is the term used for congenital absence of one to six teeth excluding third molars; oligodontia refers to the absence of more than six teeth excluding third molars; and all teeth are missing in anodontia [56,57]. The molecular basis of agenesis is not completely understood, despite identification of several mutations in *Msx1* and *Pax9* genes that seem to be crucial for tooth agenesis, and mutation in the *Axin2* gene that causes oligodontia together with a predisposition to colo-rectal cancer (reviewed by Matalova et al. [56] and Shimizu and Maeda [57]).

Msx1 and Pax9 are transcription factors necessary for normal tooth development. *Msx1* is a member of the muscle segment homeobox family, members of which are repetitively expressed during organogenesis. *Pax9* plays an important role as a regulator of cellular pluripotency and differentiation during embryonic patterning and organogenesis and also in post-natal life. The protein product of the *Axin2* gene is a negative regulator of the *Wnt*-signalling pathway. The *Wnt*-signalling pathways are signal transduction pathways made of proteins that pass signals from outside a cell through cell surface receptors to the inside of the cell.

A case—control study with the largest number of genes and single-nucleotide polymorphisms assessed in the same population was performed recently to identify the causes of maxillary lateral incisor agenesis [58]. No significant allelic genotypic or haplotypic associations were found regarding Axin2, TGFA, and Msx1 genes, but two strong significant interactions between TGFA-Axin2 and Msx1-TGFA were revealed. Pax9, EDA, Spry2, Spry4 and Wnt10A were noted as risk factors for maxillary lateral incisor agenesis. These results suggest that genes involving hypodontia and/or oligodontia are also involved in maxillary lateral incisor agenesis.

Advances in molecular genetic analysis may identify candidate genes that participate not only in maxillary lateral incisor agenesis but also in its reduction. In recent years, the progress of gene studies has been remarkable, but understanding of the morphological expression of traits is also important. Tooth reduction and agenesis appear to represent a complex multifactorial phenotype, influenced by a combination of gene function, epigenetic influences, environmental interaction and developing timing [59]. While this paper has focused on anthropological evidence to support the influence of genetic, epigenetic and environmental factors on the development of maxillary lateral incisors, it is clear that studies based on both molecular biology as well as anthropology are needed to provide further insights into the interactions between these factors during odontogenesis [60]. For example, accumulation of large databases of human dental morphological data is needed to support the molecular genetic studies that are being carried out using experimental animals.

Funding

This work was supported by JSPS KAKENHI Grant No. 17570196 and the National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia.

Conflict of interest

None.

References

- Nelson SJ, Ash Jr MM. Wheeler's dental anatomy, physiology and occlusion. 9th ed. St. Louis: Saunders Elsevier; 2010.
- [2] Fujita T, Kirino T, Yamashita Y. Textbook of dental anatomy. 22nd ed. Tokyo: Kanehara and Co. Ltd.; 1995 [in Japanese].
- [3] Hanihara K. Upper lateral incisor variability and the size of the remaining teeth. J Anthropol Soc Nippon 1970;78:316-23.
- [4] Kondo S, Hanamura H. Does a maxillary lateral incisor reduce to compensate for a large central incisor? Aichi-Gakuin J Dent Sci 2010;48:215–27 [in Japanese].
- [5] Townsend GC, Richards L, Hughes T, Pinkerton S, Schwerdt W. The value of twins in dental research. Aust Dent J 2003;48:82-8.
- [6] Townsend GC, Hughes T, Luciano M, Backmann M, Brook A. Genetic and environmental influences on human dental variation: a critical evaluation of studies involving twins. Arch Oral Biol 2009;545:S45–S51.
- [7] Kondo S, Matsuno M, Futagami C, Hanamura H, Kanazawa E. Analysis of heredity factors in the morphological variation of the maxillary lateral incisor by a twin model. Anthropol Sci Jpn-Ser 2010;118:1-10 [in Japanese].
- [8] Brook AH, Jernvall J, Smith RN, Hughes TE, Townsend GC. The dentition: the outcomes of morphogenesis leading to variations of tooth number, size and shape. Aust Dent J 2014;59(Suppl. 1):131-42.
- [9] Hughes TE, Townsend GC, Pinkerton SK, Bockmann MR, Seow WK, Brook AH, et al. The teeth and faces of twins: providing insights into dentofacial development and oral health for practicing oral health professionals. Aust Dent J 2014;59(Suppl. 1):101–16.
- [10] Scott GR, Turner IICG. The anthropology of modern human teeth. Cambridge: Cambridge Univ Press; 1997.
- [11] Furuta Y, Nishida K. On the anomalies of the upper lateral incisor. I. Classification of the anomalies and the transition of the devolution. Shigaku 1963;51:93–106 [in Japanese].
- [12] Sumiya Y. Statistic study on dental anomalies in Japanese. J Anthropol Soc Nippon 1959;67:215–33 [in Japanese].
- [13] Yamasaki Y, Iwasaki T, Hayasaki H, Saitho I, Tokutomi J, Yawaka Y, et al. Frequency of congenitally missing permanent teeth in Japanese children. Jpn J Pedodont 2010;48:40–7 [in Japanese].
- [14] Kure K, Arai K. A meta-analysis of tooth agenesis pattern of permanent teeth. Orthod Waves – Jpn Ed 2011;70:184–96 [in Japanese].

- [15] Rakhshan V. Meta-analysis and systematic review of factors basing the observed prevalence of congenitally missing teeth in permanent dentition excluding third molars. Progr Orthodont 2013;14:33 http://www.progressinorthodontics.com/content/ 14/1/33
- [16] Fukuhara T. Heredity observation on the dwarfism of the upper lateral incisors. Shikagaku Zasshi 1950;7:91–6 [in Japanese].
- [17] Woolf CM. Missing maxillary lateral incisors: a genetic study. Am J Human Genet 1971;23:289–96.
- [18] Nakata M. A consideration on genetic factors in congenital missing of teeth. J Stomatol Soc (Koku-Byo Gakkai Zasshi) 1979;46:131–9 [in Japanese].
- [19] Saheki M. On the heredity of the tooth crown configuration studied in twins. Acta Anat Nippon (Kaibougaku Zasshi) 1958;33:456–70 [in Japanese].
- [20] Townsend GC, Rogers J, Richards L, Brown T. Agenesis of permanent maxillary lateral incisors in South Australian twins. Aust Dent J 1995;40:186–92.
- [21] Sadler TW. Langman's Medical embryology. 8th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; 2000.
- [22] Ida-Yonemochi H, Nakatomi M, Harada H, Takata H, Baba O, Ohshima H. Glucose uptake mediated by glucose transporter 1 is essential for early tooth morphogenesis and size determination of murine molars. Dev Biol 2012;363:52–61.
- [23] Townsend GC, Richards L, Hughes T, Pinkerton S, Schwerdt W. Epigenetic influences may explain dental differences in monozygotic twin pairs. Aust Dent J 2005;50:95–100.
- [24] Egger G, Liang G, Aparicio A, Jones P. Epigenetics in human disease and prospects for epigenetic therapy. Nature 2004;429:457–63.
- [25] Williams SD, Hughes TE, Adler CJ, Brook AH, Townsend GC. Epigenetics: a new frontier in dentistry. Aust Dent J 2014;59(Suppl. 1):23–33.
- [26] Martin GM. Epigenetic drift in aging identical twins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005;102:10413–4.
- [27] Fraga MF, Ballestar E, Paz MF, Ropero S, Seiten F, Ballestar ML, et al. Epigenetic differences arise during the lifetime of monozygotic twins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005;102:10604–9.
- [28] Butler PM. Studies of mammalian dentition. Differentiation of the post-canine dentition. Proc Zool Soc Lond B 1939;109:1–36.
- [29] Townsend GC, Harris EF, Lesot H, Clauss F, Brook A. Morphogenetic fields within the human dentition: a new, clinically relevant synthesis of an old concept. Arch Oral Biol 2009;545:S34–44.
- [30] Dahlberg AA. The changing dentition of man. J Am Dent Assoc 1945;32:676-90.
- [31] Dahlberg AA. Concepts of occlusion in physical anthropology and comparative anatomy. J Am Dent Assoc 1953;46:530-5.
- [32] McCollum M, Sharpe PT. Evolution and development of teeth. J Anat 2001;199:153–9.
- [33] Tucker AS, Sharpe PT. Molecular genetics of tooth morphogenesis and patterning: the right shape in right place. J Dent Res 1999;78:826–34.
- [34] Thesleff I. Current understanding of the process of tooth formation: transfer from the laboratory to the clinic. Aust Dent J 2014;59(Suppl. 1):48–54.
- [35] Yamanaka A, Yasui K, Sonomura T, Uemura M. Development of hetrodont dentition in house shrew (Suncus murinus). Eur J Oral Sci 2007;115:433–40.
- [36] Sofaer JA, Bailit HL, McLean CJ. A developmental basis for differential tooth reduction during hominid evolution. Evolution 1971;25:509-17.
- [37] Brook A. A unifying aetiological explanation for anomalies of human tooth number and size. Arch Oral Biol 1984;29:373–8.
- [38] Brook AH, Brook O'Donnell M, Hone A, Hart E, Hughes TE, Smith RN, et al. General and craniofacial development are

complex adaptive processes influenced by diversity. Aust Dent J 2014;59(Suppl. 1):13–22.

- [39] Ooë T. Human tooth development. 2nd ed. Tokyo, Ishiyaku: Ha no Hassei-Gaku; 1984 [in Japanese].
- [40] Mizoguchi Y. Size stability of maxillary deciduous lateral incisor. Anthropol Sci 2002;110:365–88.
- [41] Dugaard-Jensen J, Nodal M, Skovaard LT, Kjaer I. Comparison of the pattern of agenesis in the primary and permanent dentitions in a population characterized by agenesis in the primary dentition. Int J Paediatric Dent 1997;7:143–8.
- [42] Mizoguchi Y. Morphological variation of the skull. Tokyo: Bensey Pub Co Ltd; 2000 [in Japanese].
- [43] Grüneberg H. The genetics of a tooth defect in the mouse. Proc Roy Soc Lond B 1951;138:437–51.
- [44] Sofaer JA, Chung CS, Niswander JD, Runck DW. Developmental interaction, size and agenesis among permanent maxillary incisors. Hum Biol 1971;43:36–45.
- [45] Garn SM, Lewis AB, Kerewsky RS. Third molar agenesis and size reduction of remaining teeth. Nature 1963;200: 488-9.
- [46] Garn SM, Lewis AB. The relationship between third molar agenesis and reduction in tooth number. Angle Orthodont 1962;32:14–8.
- [47] Mizoguchi Y. Influences of the earlier developing teeth upon the later developing teeth. Bull Natl Sci Mus Tokyo Ser D 1983;22:33–45.
- [48] Yamada H, Kondo S, Hanamura H. Tooth size and molar crown characters of individuals with third molar agenesis in Japanese. Anthropol Sci Jpn-Ser 2005;113:109–17 [in Japanese].
- [49] Yamada H, Kondo S, Hanamura H, Townsend GC. Tooth size in individuals with congenitally missing teeth: a study of Japanese males. Anthropol Sci 2010;118:87–93.
- [50] Kavanagh KD, Evans AR, Jernvall J. Predicting evolutionary patterns of mammalian teeth from development. Nature 2007;449:427–32.
- [51] Renvoisé E, Evans AR, Jebrane A, Labruère C, Laffont R, Montiuire S. Evolution of mammal tooth patterns: new insights from a developmental prediction model. Evolution 2009;63:1327–40.
- [52] Halliday TJD, Goswami A. Testing the inhibitory cascade model in Mesozoic and Cenozoic mammaliaforms. BMC Evol Biol 2013;13:79 http://www.biomedcentral.com/ 1471-2148/13/79
- [53] Asahara M. Unique inhibitory cascade pattern of molars in canids contributing to their potential to evolutionary plasticity of diet. Ecol Evol 2013;3:278–85.
- [54] Rasmussen P. ''9-Year-molars'' aberrantly developing and erupting: report of cases. J Clin Pediatric Dent 1998;22:151– 4.
- [55] Yamada H. Tooth size and morphology of affected molars in individuals with congenitally missing first molar. Anthropol Sci Jpn-Ser 2010;118:83–96 [in Japanese].
- [56] Matalova E, Fleischmannova J, Sharpe PT, Tucker AS. Tooth agenesis: from molecular genetics to molecular dentistry. J Dent Res 2008;87:617–23.
- [57] Shimizu T, Maeda T. Prevalence and genetic basis of tooth agenesis. Jpn Dent Sci Rev 2009;45:52–8.
- [58] Alves-Ferreira M, Pinho T, Sousa A, Sequeiros J, Lemos C, Alonso I. Identification of genetic risk factors for maxillary lateral incisor agenesis. J Dent Res 2014;93:452–8.
- [59] Cobourne MT. Familial human hypodontia is it all in the genes? Br Dent J 2007;203:203–8.
- [60] Brook AH. Multilevel complex interactions between genetic, epigenetic and environmental factors in the aetiology of anomalies of dental development. Arch Oral Biol 2009;545:S3–S17.